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J.Z. LaRocque: A Métis Historian’s 
Account of His Family’s Experiences 
during the North-West Rebellion  
of 1885

Heather Devine

Introduction
Between 1867 and 1885, the Métis and their First Nations allies were the 
only Indigenous groups in the country to openly defy the newly estab-
lished Canadian government. Under Prime Minister Sir John A. Macdon-
ald, the fledgling government set out to secure the vast region of Western 
Canada in order to establish its dominion sea to sea, and to keep the region 
from falling into American hands. The Canadian annexation of Western 
Canada began with the purchase of Rupert’s Land from the Hudson’s Bay 
Company in 1869, a real estate transaction complicated by the refusal of 
the Métis people of Red River to allow their homeland to be sold. The Métis 
resistance to the actions of the Canadian government, which included the 
takeover of Fort Garry and the forced negotiation of land, religious, and 
language rights for the Métis, resulted in the creation of Manitoba. The 
eventual acquisition of the entire region of Rupert’s Land, followed by the 
negotiation and signing of a series of numbered treaties with the tribal 
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groups in what is now Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta, served to 
make these large areas of land available for agricultural settlement.

The government’s failure to deliver on promises of land tenure to the 
Métis, followed by its failure to keep its treaty promises to the Blackfoot and 
Cree people now on reserves, resulted in a short but bloody uprising known 
as the Northwest Rebellion of 1885.1 The revolt was successfully suppressed 
by the Canadian government, and the leader of the uprising, Louis Riel, 
was hanged for treason in November 1885. A series of changes to the Indi-
an Act – most of them punitive – were made to prevent similar uprisings 
from taking place again. The Métis were issued scrip, a certificate payable 
to the bearer, for either agricultural land or cash, in recognition and extin-
guishment of their Aboriginal rights. Consequently, the remaining arable 
lands in the West were officially opened to agricultural settlement.

Life for the Métis after 1885 was difficult. Some of the Métis had trou-
bles claiming and keeping their scrip, and by the turn of the twentieth 
century, these people were homeless, with no means of survival in the agri-
cultural settlements that quickly sprang up. Some landless Métis chose to 
rely on hunting and gathering to survive, and soon migrated to isolated 
regions farther to the north and west where they could continue their trad-
itional way of life.

But many of the Métis descendants of buffalo hunters and traders who 
had occupied the northern plains for generations chose to remain in the 
southern regions of Western Canada, despite widespread prejudice and 
discrimination due to their race, their religion, and their French and In-
digenous languages. Moreover, the dominant historical narratives of the 
day branded the Métis as traitors to Canada, an impulsive, improvident, 
even violent people who had chosen to follow a madman.2

Between 1885 and 1914, an estimated three million people emigrated 
to Canada, and most of these immigrants were destined for Western Can-
ada.3 The pressure to gain access to arable land soon resulted in widespread 
discrimination against anyone who was foreign or non-white, did not 
speak English as their mother tongue, or practised Roman Catholicism. 
The Indians on reserves were largely ignored by the white population, as 
the punitive policies of the Indian Act severely restricted their movements 
off the reserve.4

By the 1920s and 1930s, a new, pathological Métis identity had en-
tered the public consciousness, largely due to the economic and social 
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marginalization that had accelerated since the collapse of the world econ-
omy in 1929. The Métis (colloquially referred to as “half-breeds”) were 
considered to be a failed people, whose racial and cultural characteristics 
rendered them unfit to compete successfully in the New West. Their lack 
of formal education made it difficult for them to get permanent employ-
ment, and for those Métis unfortunate enough to be indigent, there was 
no free access to medical services or schooling. They populated the ditches 
beside the major roads, and led a precarious existence based on season-
al farm labour, handouts, some hunting and gathering, and petty crime. 
The transformation of the once-proud Métis into “The Road Allowance 
People” was complete – or almost complete.5 

But there were other Métis who had avoided the fate of their less for-
tunate kin. It is often overlooked, or simply unacknowledged, that some 
Métis people had the resources necessary to weather the transition from 
a frontier to a settled society. These individuals, often part of officer fam-
ilies from the Hudson’s Bay Company, or descended from the numerous 
families of independent traders in the region, had managed to establish 
small homesteads and secure title to their land. Some of these people also 
possessed a degree of formal education, and set out to adapt to the new 
economic reality forced upon them. Others had managed to establish kin 
and commercial relationships with the new arrivals, or maintained the 
remnants of older ties rooted in the fur trade society that once domin-
ated the region. In order to function successfully in the racially charged, 
post-frontier environment of Western Canada, the “Respectable Métis,” as 
they were sometimes called, chose to downplay their mixed ancestry pub-
licly.6 If they spoke Michif or Cree or Saulteaux or French, they did so at 
home, with their relatives and friends. Some also quietly chose not to pass 
along these languages to their children, as they were no longer considered 
useful skills. The beaded clothing, the kinnikinnick, and the buffalo guns 
were tucked away under beds, in boxes and trunks, and in closets. The 
songs and stories of the past remained in the minds and hearts of the old 
people, to be shared on special occasions like Le Jour D’An (New Year’s 
Day). Their children went to school, became adults, and intermarried with 
their non-Métis neighbors. 

Over time, the external trappings of Métis culture and heritage had 
been suppressed so profoundly that by the late twentieth century, it ap-
peared as if the diverse Métis communities scattered throughout the 



3 | J.Z. LAROCQUE62

southern regions of Western Canada had completely vanished from the 
landscape.7 In fact, they had not. As interest in Métis culture and heritage 
grew after the centenaries of the 1869 and 1885 Métis uprisings, a new gen-
eration of researchers would revisit the historical documents of the nine-
teenth century, looking for information that would shed light on the lives 
of previously neglected racial and gender minorities, and provide usable 
data for the political and legal battles following the patriation of Canada’s 
Constitution in 1982.8 

Across Western Canada and into the northern United States, various 
cultural organizations and projects were launched to compile and pre-
serve Métis folklore and music.9 But what also emerged was a large body 
of both published and unpublished work, some written by Métis people 
themselves, some written by people who lived and worked alongside the 
Métis. These published works were not in the form of school textbooks or 
scholarly, “academic” histories. Instead they thrived in a largely neglected 
genre of literature – the field of vernacular history.10

Vernacular history: A definition
What is vernacular history? Recent scholarship by Western Canadian his-
torian Lyle Dick sets out to introduce the term “vernacular history,” to 
define the characteristics of this genre, and to provide a framework for 
examining non-academic sources of historical information in order that 
they might take their rightful place within a broader, more inclusive con-
ception of what academics define as “historiography.”11

The origin of the term “vernacular history” is partially rooted in ex-
isting definitions of “vernacular literature” and “vernacular architecture.” 
Vernacular literature, by and large, refers to any literature written in the 
everyday speech of the common people. In terms of European literature, 
vernacular literature was any written work that was not expressed in Latin. 
Vernacular architecture is the term used to describe buildings that are built 
using local, traditional techniques and materials, and are not designed by 
professional architects. 

The term “vernacular history” as discussed by Lyle Dick, is “grass-
roots historical practice in North America in the nineteenth and twen-
tieth centuries.”12 Like vernacular literature and vernacular architecture, 
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vernacular history is a product of the common people, in that it tends to 
be composed of information collected from, and compiled by, citizens of 
local communities. 

 
Vernacular historians have ranged from community histori-
ans to individual scholars to so-called history buffs, and their 
practice has assumed many forms, from informal pioneer rem-
iniscences to highly crafted works of scholarship, exemplifying 
varying levels of talent, experience, and imagination.13

The authors of these grassroots histories may incorporate information 
from secondary historical sources produced elsewhere but tend to rely on 
their own personal experiences; original documents and interviews; cre-
ative works, such as spoken word, music poetry and visual art; and objects 
and ephemera collected directly from community residents. 

Vernacular histories may follow some research and publication con-
ventions, such as the third-person style of writing, citation of sources, or 
even formal consent forms for inclusion of personal information, but this 
is not always deemed necessary, or even desired, by its practitioners. 

One of the major criticisms of vernacular history is that it may not 
display the much-vaunted objectivity of academic writing:

 
Vernacular authors have often not displayed scholarly detach-
ment; their writing has tended to be informed by direct expe-
rience and animated by a passionate involvement with their 
subjects of study.14 

Another shortcoming of vernacular narratives, according to Dick, is that 
they are “dialogic” in the Bahktinian sense, in that the narrative may 
change over time according to the nature of the audience and their inter-
action with, and response to, the author’s account. This fluidity of content 
in some vernacular accounts means that they lack logical coherence, which 
undermines their credibility as trustworthy sources of information.15 

During the course of the twentieth century, historical production 
became a discrete academic specialty, and history as written by profes-
sional scholars was privileged over vernacular history in terms of its 
overall validity and credibility. As a result, vernacular history became 
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marginalized and eventually discredited as a source of reliable informa-
tion about the past.16

Dick goes on to note that while vernacular historians “share the com-
mon experience of operating outside dominant discourses of power and 
authority,” this does not mean that vernacular narratives necessarily go 
against the prevailing dominant historical viewpoints.17 Community his-
torians who share the same worldview and value systems as professional 
scholars are often happy to incorporate perspectives that reinforce their 
own opinions, even to the point of excluding credible data that challenge 
the validity of the prevailing historical scholarship. As a result, the vast 
majority of local community histories produced prior to the 1970s demon-
strate a relentlessly homogeneous portrait of Western Canada, where the 
narrative of the past starts with the appearance of the first homesteader 
and goes on to feature the family biographies of subsequent arrivals – all 
presented in alphabetical order according to surname. 

More recently Lyle Dick has revisited the topic of Western Canadian 
vernacular history, this time focusing on the writing of early Manitoba his-
tory. His rationale for this examination is to refute the common assump-
tion that Western Canadian historiography is a product of the period after 
the creation of Manitoba and after the founding of history as an academic 
specialty. Instead, he argues that there were vernacular historians resident 
in the Red River Settlement after the initial arrival of the Selkirk settlers in 
1812–13 who were active up to, and after, the establishment of the province 
of Manitoba in 1870. Although these writers were not professional histor-
ians, Dick argues, their work was skilfully done, and they were motivated 
by “a sense of civic duty to write on issues of pressing social, cultural and 
political importance to their community.”18 

He then profiles a select group of vernacular historians of the Red Riv-
er region; Pierre Falcon Jr.; Alexander Ross; the Reverend James Hunter; 
Joseph James Hargrave; and Donald Gunn. Of this group, Dick concludes 
that it is the works of Pierre Falcon Jr. and Donald Gunn that resonate 
today, largely due to their occupational and kin-based connections to the 
“grassroots” citizenry of the colony that enabled them to supplement their 
own first-person accounts of historical events with the shared experiences 
of their relatives, friends, and neighbours. Moreover, Pierre Falcon and 
Donald Gunn brought different values and attitudes to the writing of Red 
River history. Falcon expressed Red River history through satirical poems 
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and songs that were entertainment as much as chronicle, first shared oral-
ly by Falcon, and then repeated or sung by his fellow Métis while lazing 
around campfires, paddling canoes, travelling in hunting brigades and 
cart trains, and settling in their cabins and villages.19 Donald Gunn chose 
to challenge the narratives of his British contemporaries (many with family 
connections to the Hudson’s Bay Company) by questioning the leadership 
and judgment of the Red River elite. 

In Manitoba, after the Red River Resistance of 1869–70, and after Red 
River had been overwhelmed with Anglo-Protestant settlers from Ontario, 
a cadre of twenty-six prominent citizens of Manitoba established the His-
torical and Scientific Society of Manitoba in January 1879.20 Many of the 
founding members of the organization made up the Anglo-Canadian rul-
ing class of the new province of Manitoba. As a result, Métis accounts of 
the Red River Resistance of 1869–70 and the Riel Rebellion of 1885 were 
largely ignored, even though Roman Catholic clerics did publish religious 
histories of Western Canada that incorporated information on the Métis. 
The cohort of professional historians that existed in the universities of On-
tario and Quebec, in the heartland of the young Dominion of Canada, 
largely maintained the status quo.21 Because the history profession was 
in its infancy, this first generation of historians was quite comfortable in-
corporating, and building upon, the vernacular historical accounts of the 
respected citizens of Manitoba and Ontario, many of whom circulated in 
the same business and social circles as they did. These nascent academics 
did not entertain the perspectives of intellectuals outside of their linguistic 
and ethnic cohort.22

The former elites of Red River – the Francophone and Métis business-
men, professionals, and clerics – were sufficiently offended by what they 
perceived as “errors” in the depiction of their community’s history that 
they formed an organization, La Union Nationale Métisse Saint.-Joseph 
de Manitoba, in 1909. They later engaged August-Henri de Trémaudan, a 
Québec-born historian raised in France, to research and write their com-
munity’s history, and he began publishing articles and books in the 1920s.23 

Despite the dominance of non-Métis scholars in the area of Métis his-
toriography, it would be incorrect to assume that there was lack of interest 
amongst Métis people in writing their history. In fact, in the years prior to 
the founding of La Union Nationale Métisse in 1909, a young Métis man 
from the Qu’Appelle Valley in Saskatchewan made the decision to sell his 
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scrip and move to Winnipeg to get an education. His name was Joseph 
Zépherin LaRocque. 

What follows is an examination of some selected narratives left behind 
by one of the very few Métis vernacular historians of the early twentieth 
century: Joseph Zépherin (J.Z.) LaRocque of Lebret, Saskatchewan. Mr. 
LaRocque is perhaps most widely remembered today as one of the earliest 
post-1885 Métis political activists – a founder and former president of the 
Métis Society of Saskatchewan, and a lifelong member of the Saskatch-
ewan Liberal Party. His ongoing political collaboration and friendships 
with prominent Saskatchewan Liberals, particularly James G. Gardiner, 
provided LaRocque with reasonably steady employment in provincial and 
federal government jobs for about thirty years (ca. 1914–44), including an 
appointment as a member of the Saskatchewan Provincial Police, and a 
position as a provincial fish and wildlife officer. These government posts 
would provide income aside from LaRocque’s farming activities during 
the bulk of his working life. 

 
3.1 Joseph Zépherin 
LaRocque. Courtesy of Anna 
Marie Willey, Regina, SK.
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Despite his very busy political and work-related activities, Joseph also 
possessed a keen avocational interest in the human and natural history of 
the Qu’Appelle Valley, a passion to which he was able to devote additional 
time as he reached middle age. He had joined the Saskatchewan Histor-
ical Society in the 1930s, and served on its board of directors for several 
years. He had been active in collecting and preserving original docu-
ments and artifacts of interest, many of which he loaned and/or gifted 
to the Province of Saskatchewan. Because of his ability to speak the Cree 
and Saulteaux languages, and due to his ongoing friendships with local 
Native people throughout the region, J.Z. was able to acquire previously 
unknown insights into historical events from the Indigenous perspective. 
He interviewed local First Nations and Métis Elders, and developed a 
detailed knowledge of historical sites and events, primarily those of the 
Qu’Appelle Valley. He shared this information in a wide range of articles 
that were published in local Saskatchewan newspapers, magazines, and 
provincial histories. As mentioned previously, J.Z.’s political connections 
led to administrative postings with the government, particularly as a 
peace officer and as a fish and wildlife officer. His background as a wild-
life officer no doubt encouraged his interest in the animal, fish, and bird 
populations of the area, and his papers contain a number of handwritten 
essays on conservation.24

Joseph Z. LaRocque died in 1964, aged eighty-five. His collected cor-
respondence and historical writings remained in the possession of his son 
Robert James “Jimmy” LaRocque until the latter’s death in 2009. Since 
2012, I have had the opportunity to work with Joseph LaRocque’s papers, 
and his writings display many of the strengths (and alleged weaknesses) 
of vernacular historical writing. But first, some additional context on my 
involvement with this collection is required. 

The J.Z. LaRocque papers: The legacy of a Métis 
Liberal
In the 1990s I paid my first visit to Lebret, Saskatchewan, in the Qu’Ap-
pelle Valley with my cousin Art. We visited our ancestors in the graveyard, 
went to the local museum, and later stopped by the home of Jimmy and 
Lucy LaRocque, long-time residents of Lebret. Jimmy, considered to be the 



3 | J.Z. LAROCQUE68

unofficial historian of the community, was actually the inheritor of this 
mantle from his father, the late J.Z. LaRocque. 

My personal relationship with Lebret and the LaRocque family in 
particular is through my mother (our Desjarlais and Klyne ancestors 
are from this community and buried in the local cemetery). As a young 
woman she also worked at Fort San (also known as the Fort Qu’Appelle 
Sanatorium), the tuberculosis hospital not far from Lebret. One of her 
friends and co-workers at the sanatorium later married J.Z.’s son Jimmy 
and settled at Lebret.

My first 1990s visit with the LaRocques was brief but interesting. 
Jimmy showed us samples of kinnikinnik, told us humorous anecdotes 
about our relations, and chatted about family history, community history, 
and his father’s large collection of historical accounts.

As the years passed and I became caught up in my own Métis research 
projects, J.Z. LaRocque and the documents he had left behind faded from 
view. The existence of J.Z. LaRocque’s papers was known among local his-
torians and community members in the Qu’Appelle Valley, but the papers 
had never been studied outside of the family. It was well known that his 
son Jimmy was fiercely protective of his father’s legacy, and that it was his 
intention to “do something” with the collected papers.

In the intervening years, my parents visited the LaRocques from time 
to time, as my mother was an old friend of Jimmy’s wife Lucy. Then in 
spring 2009 I heard from my mother that Jimmy had died at the age of 
eighty-seven. She sent me the mass card from Jimmy’s funeral, and I post-
ed it on my bulletin board, where I often stared at it, and wondered about 
his papers.

Shortly after Jimmy LaRocque’s passing, I asked my mother if she 
still stayed in touch with Lucy. She said yes. Then I asked her if she would 
phone Lucy and ask her about Jimmy’s papers, to find out if the papers 
still existed. She phoned Lucy, and then she called me back to affirm that, 
indeed, Lucy still had the papers, and that they were in boxes and trunks. I 
then requested that she phone Lucy again, to ask her if I could examine the 
papers. And again, my mother phoned back to tell me that “Yes, Lucy says 
you can look at the papers, but she can’t pay you to do it!.” This puzzled me, 
as I couldn’t understand why she would think that I wanted payment for 
looking at the collection, but I told Mom to phone her back to advise her 
that I wanted NO money, just the chance to look at the documents.
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My request to examine the collection was granted by Mrs. LaRo-
cque via my mother. We decided to make the journey a mother-daughter 
“road trip” of sorts – Mom would visit with Lucy, and I would look at 
the documents.

My mother and I flew to Saskatchewan from Alberta in late August 
2010, travelling by car to Lebret, where the papers were stored. While my 
mother and Lucy visited, I conducted a preliminary analysis of the con-
tents of the boxes and trunks where the papers were housed, and asked 
permission to borrow part of the collection for further study.

Permission was granted by Mrs. LaRocque, and I set aside a total of four 
boxes of correspondence and other material (approximately six linear feet), 
for pickup by car at a future date. My mother and I returned to Alberta, and 
I completed a formal ethics application for my research project, as well as 
an informed consent form for Mrs. LaRocques’s review and signature. The 
draft documents were reviewed and approved by Research Ethics, and in 
early September of 2010 my husband and I drove to Lebret, Saskatchewan. 

 
3.2 Mrs. Lucy LaRocque (left) and my mother, Mrs. Mary Devine (right). Photo by 
author.



3 | J.Z. LAROCQUE70

3.3 LaRocque’s trunk of documents. Photo by author.

Mrs. LaRocque signed two copies of the informed consent form, keeping 
one copy for herself. My husband and I then returned to Alberta with the 
LaRocque collection and the signed consent form, which completed the 
initial task of this project – the acquisition of the papers for study.

In early 2011 I hired a doctoral student to go through the collection, 
in order to document and sort the papers according to archival principles. 
This was deemed necessary, as the collection was in no discernible order, 
and it would be very difficult to review the documents chronologically or 
thematically without some form of preliminary arrangement.

The preliminary documentation and arrangement of the collection 
was completed by April 2011, and a rudimentary finding aid was prepared 
for the papers. 

Originally my interest in the documents was strictly for the transcribed 
oral accounts of Métis history that J.Z. LaRocque was known to have col-
lected from Métis Elders in the Qu’Appelle Valley of Saskatchewan. He had 
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a wide-ranging circle of friends and acquaintances among old-timers of 
every race, ethnicity, and political stripe.

What surprised me most, however, was a collection of documents that 
had been set aside by someone (probably Jimmy) prior to any outsiders 
looking at the collection. The file consisted of correspondence between J.Z. 
LaRocque and J.G. “Jimmy” Gardiner, a Lemberg, Saskatchewan, school-
teacher and farmer who became premier of Saskatchewan in the late 1920s 
and early 1930s, and then became federal minister of agriculture in the 
Liberal government of Mackenzie King. The number and variety of letters 
were astonishing. While there were handwritten drafts and typed carbon 
copies of letters that J.Z. had mailed to Jimmy, there were also responses 
to J.Z.’s letters from Jimmy Gardiner, typewritten on various government 
letterheads that served as visual “signposts” of Gardiner’s political career 
over the decades. Another pleasant discovery was political correspond-
ence between LaRocque and other Saskatchewan politicians, among them 
Métis and First Nations activists.

 
3.4 LaRocque’s Bundled Letter File. Photo by author.
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3.5 A LaRocque’s typewritten letter. Photo by author.
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After a cursory examination of secondary historical sources dealing 
with Saskatchewan politics revealed no references to J.Z. LaRocque, I 
began making inquiries of colleagues at the University of Regina. I found, 
to my surprise, that local scholars who specialized in Saskatchewan pol-
itical history were unaware of the long-standing friendship between the 
Métis politician and the Liberal leader. Moreover, my examination of the 
finding aid for the massive J.G. Gardiner fonds held by the Saskatchewan 
Archives revealed only one letter from J.Z. LaRocque to Jimmy Gardiner, 
written in the 1960s.25

While I found these political papers fascinating, I was also intrigued 
by the very large collection of published reminiscences and newspaper 
articles, and published “letters to the editor” that Mr. LaRocque had pro-
duced during his lifetime. Many of these writings documented key events 
from the Northwest Rebellion of 1885, as experienced by members of 
his family and other Métis and First Nations residents of the Qu’Appelle 
Valley. These written reminiscences are of particular importance. First of 
all, they provide additional information about specific events during the 
rebellion that do not appear in conventional accounts of the event. These 
accounts also embody many of the characteristics of vernacular histories, 
as discussed previously. The remainder of this examination will focus on 
a selection of J.Z. LaRocque’s vernacular accounts of his family’s experi-
ences during the Northwest Rebellion of 1885, highlighting the unique 
characteristics of these documents that are not normally featured in con-
ventional historical narratives.

The arrest of Antoine LaRocque – 1885
Antoine LaRocque, the father of J.Z. LaRocque, was a trader from St. 
François Xavier Parish, Red River. Like many Métis families who migrated 
out of the Red River Settlement after the Red River resistance of 1869–70, 
Antoine LaRocque and his wife Rosalie LaPlante moved westward with 
their children to the newly created District of Assiniboia to farm. They 
settled near the village of Lac Qu’Appelle, now known as Lebret, in 1875, 
where they operated a large farm raising cattle and horses. 

Unfortunately, the Northwest Rebellion of 1885 would have disas-
trous consequences for the family. Antoine LaRocque was falsely accused 
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of supplying firearms to rebels, and was arrested and jailed, despite the 
family’s claims that Antoine LaRocque had actually persuaded local First 
Nations groups not to participate in the conflict. LaRocque was encour-
aged to sue the government for wrongful arrest, and proceeded to hire 
legal assistance to initiate a lawsuit. Unfortunately, Antoine LaRocque 
eventually ran out of money to pay his lawyer. To cover his legal debts, his 
lands were taken from him.

One version of this story is contained in a letter sent to the Hon. W.J. 
Patterson, Liberal premier of Saskatchewan, by J.Z. LaRocque in June 1939. 
Although this account is not the earliest telling of the tale, it is significant 
because Joseph LaRocque is using the story to illustrate some of the cir-
cumstances whereby various Saskatchewan Métis lost their lands. It is also 
relatively complete, in that it provides some contextual family information 
and also identifies the key individuals and events involved in his father’s 
arrest and subsequent bankruptcy. 

 
Dear Mr. Patterson:

With further reference to Metis rights to landed properties in 
Saskatchewan, I found about 90% of them disposed of their 
holdings thro out the province. Those born in Saskatchewan 
between 1870 to 1885, including myself, received 240 acres as 
scrips and also had the privilege of entering an ordinary ‘home-
stead’ of 160 acres. A great many took advantage of the second 
privilege, and again disposed of it, in most cases, as soon as they 
‘proved up’ the lands. There is only, practically speaking, the La 
Rocque boys owning farm lands in this district, and thanks for 
this to the late Right Hon. Sir Wilfrid Laurier.… 

When my father arrived here in 1876 Father Hugonard had 
already [been] here (Lebret) 2 years coming from Grenoble, a 
province [in the] south of France. My father was bent [on] hav-
ing his sons educated and Father Hugonard promised him a 
school right here. The good Father Hugonard kept his promise 
and opened a day school for the Metis children shortly after.

My father had acquired 3 sections of land in this district, 
and after the survey about 1880-1 he became the proud pos-
sessor of these properties in a legal way. However, misfortune 
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overtook the LaRocque family in 1885. He could not read or 
write and to this date, I cannot figure out how he kept his ac-
counts when he carried on such a large business. He usually 
had 75 Red River carts heavily loaded with merchandise, and 
apparently he advanced goods to trappers and buffalo hunters 
thro out the length and breadth of this country.

When hostilities broke out in 1885 he kept strictly netral 
[sic] although he would naturally sympathize with Louis Riel. 
Star Blanket and the other minor Chiefs from File Hills Reser-
vations wanted to go on the war path but wanted the open sup-
port of Antoine LaRocque. LaRocque was reputed to have con-
siderable quantities of ammunitions, consisting of gun powder 
and bullets. Star Blanket’s plans were to kill Father Hugonard, 
one George Fisher, a trader, and Archibald McDonald, then 
Chief Factor, Hudson’s Bay Company, Fort Qu’Appelle. Star 
Blanket accused these three men for betraying the Indians and 
Métis and he was bound to take revenge on them but wanted 
LaRocque’s support to do it. My father always told us, he knew 
the Indian character too well, and he would not advise them to 
commit any rash act.… 

Star Blanket decided to move towards the Qu’Appelle Val-
ley in the spring of 1885 and dug trenches on the top of the hills 
about one mile East where the cross is planted opposite Lebret. 
This was verified by Chief Buffalo Bow, 99 years old, when you 
was [sic] made Ka-Nee-Kan Otaeu at File Hills 1st July 1937. 
Most likely the authorities found out Star Blanket was making 
frequent visits to LaRocque and its an open secret to all old tim-
ers that LaRocque was an easy victim to unscrupulous would 
be ‘spies’ during the rebellion.

He stood solid to his grounds, prevented Star Blanket go-
ing on the war path, yet, he would not betray his own people. 
Finally the sad moment came, one night during the rebellion 
Col. O’Brien, Toronto, with 200 armed men went to LaRocque’s 
trading post (where my dairy farm is now located) and arrested 
him. LaRocque had a revolver and he was going to use it. Moth-
er intervened and pleaded with him to give in as otherwise, 
I would not be writing this 54 years after. Dad was a massive 
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built man, standing around 6 feet weighing about 250 pounds. 
A general melee might have been the sad result as the soldiers 
would have been ordered to shoot, and being night time, astray 
bullets might have killed the innocent as well as the combatants.

The soldiers escorted him to Regina and kept him in Jail 
for 9 days on bread and water. Apparently unable to find any 
evidence against him, he was released. Dad told us he had to 
sleep on the bare floor. After his release again the dark clouds 
of misfortune befell on the family. A man named T. W. Jack-
son, I believe a lawyer, persuaded Dad to sue the Canadian 
Government for false arrest. I am not sure but I think Mr. 
Jackson was connected with the North West Council. He ex-
tracted all the cash he could from him and likely the Crown 
kept on asking remands. The point came when LaRocque had 
no more money and in default of appearing, a judgement was 
registered against him for the costs. Failing to pay these costs 
the Crown seized all his lands. Then homeless, friendless, the 
LaRocque family had to eke out a living the best they knew 
how. Necessarily we were classed as ‘rebels’ and looked down 
on as undesirables. To intensify the groans of persecution my 
father died in January 1894.

In 1895 the dark clouds that had been hovering over our 
confiscated home took a change and gradually turned silvery. 
The Right Hon. Sir Wilfrid Laurier then touring the West came 
to Lebret and attended Mass on a Sunday. I was then 14 years 
old and I will remember seeing the silver tongue orator kneel-
ing at the alter railing in the little old [church] here. After Mass 
the distinguished visitor spoke. He made a solemn promise 
that if elected, he would grant full amnesty to all those that had 
had any misunderstandings with the Canadian Government. 
My late brother Alexander LaRocque, who was the eldest in 
the family, told Sir Wilfrid of our home being confiscated thro 
the arrest of our father. Sir Wilfrid took notes and not many 
months after his election as Prime Minister of Canada, we re-
ceived a registered letter containing a clearance of our lands, 
and mother wept with joy and needless to say, our family al-
ways held Sir Wilfrid with the greatest of admiration.… 
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‘The last but not least’ Since narrating all our misfortunes, 
we were reduced to down right poverty and in 1899 again Sir 
Wilfrid came to the rescue. As I was telling you when in your 
office recently, how I came to be a Liberal, this is how it hap-
pened. I was one of those entitled to a land scrip in 1899 and I 
kept mine for one year, and sold it for $300.00. With this money 
I took a commercial course in Winnipeg.

Yours sincerely,
Jos. Z. LaRocque26

J.Z.’s account of the family’s fall in fortune, followed by their redemption 
in 1895 at the hands of Liberal Prime Minister Wilfrid Laurier, has been 
told and retold over the decades – in public speeches, in newspaper arti-
cles, and in the private correspondence of J.Z. LaRocque. This story, as I 
have come to learn, is pivotal to understanding the roots of Liberal Party 
loyalty in the LaRocque family. It also helps to explain the unusual, even 
incongruous, presence of a Métis political organizer in a mainstream pol-
itical party prior to World War I. 

However, the earliest published account of the LaRocque family ex-
perience may, in fact, be Star Blanket’s account of the Northwest Rebellion. 
Star Blanket (Ahchacoosahcotatakoopit) was a hereditary chief and the son 
of Chief White Buffalo Calf (Wahpiimoosetoosis), a signatory of Treaty 4. 
Several published biographies of Star Blanket currently exist, and his re-
sistance to federal government policies has been well documented.27 The 
reminiscence below is featured in Volume 1 of John Hawkes, The Story of 
Saskatchewan and Its People.28 Oddly enough, this account is not contained 
in the section of this book devoted to discussing the rebellion. Instead, it is 
contained in Chapter 15: “An Indian Murder Case.” A few pages into this 
chapter is an introductory paragraph entitled “Star Blanket,” written by 
John Hawkes: 

 
Star Blanket was an immovable Pagan of strong character, and 
there is little doubt that the old warrior was positively aching 
to go on the war path in the rebellion. We have seen an entirely 
imaginative account in print setting forth that Father Hugo-
nard actually choked him into submission, threw such a scare 
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into him that he was afraid to join the rebels. The truth will 
be found in the following statement which was given me at an 
arranged meeting with Star Blanket in the Qu’Appelle at Mr. 
Joseph La Roque’s [sic] house. Many French Metis were placed 
in an invidious position in the rebellion and some suggestions 
were at one time made against the loyalty of the well-known 
family of La Roque. The subjoined statement will put the late 
Mr. LaRoque in his true light and show that not only was he 
loyal but that to him and to him alone Star Blanket’s neutrality 
in the rebellion was due.29 

This introduction is followed by a passage entitled “Star Blanket’s State-
ment,” which would appear to be a detailed transcript of his dealings with 
Antoine LaRocque, as featured in the excerpt below:

 
Myself, Kee-was-stoo-tin and Is-koo-ches, went to LaRoque’s, 
all dressed up in warrior style, and upon [my] entering his 
home he asked me, ‘How are you brother? What’s wrong?’ I said, 
‘Nothing, brother: I am looking for peace, then if I cannot find 
it what shall I do?’ He replied, ‘Brother, go to the soldier’s camp 
at Kee-pa-hee-kan-nik, and you show yourself that you are not 
looking for trouble by shaking hands with them. Bring no guns 
with you, and I guarantee they won’t hurt you. Go straight to 
the camp and the sentry may not allow you to enter the camp 
grounds, and may offer to scare you with a gun, but never heed, 
just go by him and salute him by “How.” ‘Thereby I followed my 
brother’s advice and went to the camp at the Fort (Qu’Appelle) 
with my two companions, and did exactly what brother (La 
Roque) told me to do… The C.O. asked me what I wanted. I told 
him I was on a peace pilgrimage and would acknowledge the 
Government’s good will and peace by exchanging tobacco and 
tea. A man named McKay, a half-breed, was interpreter. The 
C.O. was in a happy mood when he heard this and immediate-
ly gave orders that I be given these commodities. They gave us 
tobacco and tea in large quantities. Then we again shook hands 
and we left the soldier’s camp for our camp in Lebret. I must say 
that I was determined to have my brother’s advice (La Roque’s) 
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3.6 Ahchacoosahcotatakoopit (Star Blanket). Provincial Archives of Saskatchewan.
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whether right or wrong, which of course I intended to carry out 
in the extreme. But give honour to my deceased brother’s (La 
Roque’s) wise advice. If he had advised me the contrary God 
alone knows what might have happened, as I had a powerful 
band of warriors. My brother (La Roque) always advised me 
to avoid doing wrong, and that the Lord would give me luck. 
Then on my return to the camp I went again to see my brother 
(La Roque) and told him the results of my trip. He was glad to 
hear it, and again he told me not to take up arms, and to lead a 
peaceful life.30

The statement (which is not provided in its entirety here) ends with “This 
is a true statement and I give my cross thereto.” Star Blanket’s “X” is at the 
bottom of the passage, along with the words “Witness Joseph Z. La Roque.”

While reviewing other documents in the J.Z. LaRocque Papers, I en-
countered additional contextual information about the Star Blanket nar-
rative. In a typed essay entitled “Thoughts, Fancies, and Facts,” J.Z. La-
Rocque reminisces about a chance encounter with an individual directly 
involved in his father’s arrest.

 
Apparently odd things will happen in a life time. When I was 
a Field Officer for the Department of Natural Resources, I was 
up good and early one morning and proceeded to the Sioux 
Bridge in the Qu’Appelle Valley to check duck hunters. There 
were several Regina sportsmen there. I will mention a few[:] Sir 
Frederick Haultain, his brother Wilmot, former Chief Justice 
W.W. Martin, his late brother Dr. Martin and some prominent 
men from the surrounding country. The last man I checked 
was William Charles Maguire of 1928 McIntyre St. Regina. He 
told me he had come to Winnipeg in 1882 and was a cavalry-
man in the Riel Rebellion. That he had been an employee of the 
Massey-Harris Company for nearly fifty years.

He asked me when I came West and I told him I was al-
ways in Saskatchewan, born on the valley flats at Lebret. He 
went on describing when Col. O’Brien of Toronto during one 
night, picked 200 strong men, including himself, to go on pa-
trol to Lebret, then known as “La Mission Qu’Appelle” to arrest 
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Antoine LaRocque. They arrived there from Fort Qu’Appelle 
and pushed a gun in every window. Col. O’Brien with other 
officers and an interpreter went in and arrested my father. My 
mother told me when I became age of reason, that father had a 
revolver under his pillow and he was going to shoot but mother 
pleaded with him not to … I asked Mr. Maguire if he didn’t see 
a craddle [sic], as may be no officer would be checking him this 
morning. He seemed a nice man and jokingly I told him, it was 
my turn to use the law on him.
At the same time the formidable Cree Chief Star Blanket of File 
Hills Reserve, was also arrested and he and LaRocque were in-
carcerated for nine days in the Regina guard room but for lack 
of evidence for seditious acts both were liberated without trial. 

In the Mary Weekes’ Book, entitled “The Last Buffalo Hunt-
er” on page 185 are published pure fabrication about Antoine 
LaRocque, that Norbert Welsh had lent money to LaRocque to 
pay a fine over the 1885 rebellion. It’s a pitty [sic] for such a 
well known author as Mary Weekes is, didn’t make searches in 
the R.C.M.P. records and find out the truth, and avoid printing 
erroneous statements against a dead man. This same man Nor-
bert Welsh makes derogatory remarks against the character of 
Antoine LaRocque in pages 112–13 and the falsehoods he had 
printed against this man on page 185, what he says about him 
in pages 112–3 must also  be falsehood.

However, in about 1915, Norbert Welsh was guest at my 
house where the arrest was made in 1885, along with Chief 
Star Blanket, and my brother John LaRocque, both of whom 
had been official interpreters for the Indian Department, and 
thoroughly understood the Cree language. We also had anoth-
er guest the late Mr. John Hawkes, author and Saskatchewan 
Legistive [sic] Librarian. Mr. Hawkes thro these interpreters, 
point blank, asked Chief Star Blank [sic], who persuaded him 
not to go on the war path in 1885: He replied: “My brother 
‘Chie-ca-nay’ the Cree name of my father, meaning “Humming 
bird”. Now why didn’t Norbert Welsh deny the Chief as in Mary 
Weekes’ book, he claims he persuaded him not to go on the war 
path. Not forgetting to mention we all had liquid refreshments 
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but the Chief refused to take any. Also my good wife served a 
tasty meal to the remarkable gathering. Mr. Hawkes took sev-
eral notes, and included them in his Book “People I have Met”. 
The Late John Hawkes’ Books can be found in the Regina Pub-
lic Library.31

 
There are intriguing elements in the account above that embody sever-
al of the diagnostic characteristics of vernacular history as discussed by 
Lyle Dick. Perhaps the most obvious characteristic of this story is that it is 
written largely in the first person – a literary convention that is typically 
frowned upon by most historians because it does not reflect the “scholar-
ly detachment” that provides an aura of credibility to historical writing. 
J.Z. LaRocque the narrator is not removed from the account; instead, he 
is featured as a direct participant in the story – first as the wildlife officer 
meeting William Charles Maguire, and later as the baby in the crib during 
his account of his father’s arrest by Col. O’Brien’s men. It is also quite clear 
that the author demonstrates what professional historians might consid-
er an unseemly, even “passionate involvement” with his subject of study, 
to paraphrase the words of Lyle Dick. There are numerous folksy asides 
in the account, as well as direct criticisms of another community mem-
ber from Lebret, and the professional writer who previously published a 
book containing that person’s inaccurate statements about the LaRocque 
family. As a rule, most writers (and their publishers) are careful to avoid 
such statements, particularly if they are discussing living people, as these 
remarks could be considered libellous if published. Professional historians 
by definition generally confine themselves to discussing events of the dis-
tant past where the parties are usually deceased. But vernacular historians, 
who are recounting their own eyewitness experiences (or those of a family 
or community member), do not consider their writing from a legal point 
of view. It is their truth, as they understand it to be. 

However, there is some effort on the part of J.Z. LaRocque to provide 
corroborating evidence for the statements in his accounts, by his listing 
of other individuals who could be consulted to verify the presented facts. 
Indeed, the process of establishing the veracity of Antoine LaRocque’s ex-
periences during his arrest began, first of all, with having Chief Star Blan-
ket provide his own eyewitness testimony of both his and Antoine LaRo-
cque’s arrest by the authorities. Moreover, John Hawkes’s actual presence 
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3.7 John Hawkes, 
Saskatchewan 
Legislative Librarian. 
Provincial Archives of 
Saskatchewan. 

in J.Z. LaRocque’s home to witness Star Blanket’s deposition was, in itself, 
a method of substantiating the validity of the eyewitness evidence provid-
ed by Star Blanket, in accordance with Indigenous protocols for establish-
ing the veracity of evidence. Archivist Mary Ann Pylypchuk has argued:

 
The formalized telling of oral histories, the display of artifacts, 
singing of songs, and the staging of ceremonies in the presence 
of others is considered a form of evidence and establishes the 
legitimacy of evidence. It also establishes its spiritual power.32

The subsequent publication of the account in The Story of Saskatchewan 
and Its People was a further step toward establishing the veracity of the 
information in a “fixed,” that is, published format. It is surprising that this 
revisionist account was featured in a provincial history at all, since it was 
only forty years since the end of the Northwest Rebellion, and emotions re-
garding the event still ran high in Saskatchewan and elsewhere. However, 
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J.Z. LaRocque was a staunch Liberal and one of the early members of the 
party in Saskatchewan. John Hawkes, the author of The Story of Saskatche-
wan and Its People, was the legislative librarian in the Liberal government 
of Charles Avery Dunning during the period 1922–26. Star Blanket’s story 
was possibly included as a personal favour to Joseph LaRocque, though it 
should be noted once again that the account is not featured prominently in 
the part of the collection devoted to the Northwest Rebellion.

A third version of this story was published as an illustrated article in 
Liberty magazine in 1955, during the fiftieth anniversary of Saskatchewan’s 
creation as a province.33 This particular iteration of the account, entitled “I 
Saw Saskatchewan’s Bloody Rebellion,” amply illustrates yet another char-
acteristic of vernacular writing, that being the tendency of a vernacular 
account to change over time according to the nature of the audience, and 
the chronological and situational context of the story’s presentation. 

In this telling of the tale, which features the byline “A Liberty Salute on 
Sask.’s 50th Birthday,” LaRocque begins the account with a brief introduc-
tion to the topic of the Northwest Rebellion and his father’s arrest. Then 
he introduces himself to the reader with a prologue that establishes the 
contemporary context for the publication of the article.

 
This year, the province celebrates its Golden Jubilee. It will be 
50 and I’ll be 74. I’m Joseph Zephrian [sic] La Rocque, a Sas-
katchewan half-breed. I was a year old before the tent city of 
Regina was born. And I was 24 when Sir Wilfrid Laurier came 
to Regina to give Canada a new province. I’m happy to have 
grown up with Saskatchewan. 

To celebrate its birthday, a Jubilee Pageant, Passion Play, 
parades, art exhibitions, folk dances and sport programs will 
be held this year. One feature, on September 4, will be the re-
enacting of the inauguration ceremonies over which Canadian 
prime minister Laurier presided. Five of Saskatchewan’s sev-
en premiers will attend the ceremony for the province which, 
though rich in agricultural produce, is now second only to Al-
berta in oil production.

With a population of nearly 900,000, my Saskatchewan has, 
in five years, increased its spending on the search for oil from 
$2,000,000 to $60 million. Some three-quarters of my province 
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is covered in timber; it has, in fact, more untouched forestland 
than any province east of British Columbia.

The University of Saskatchewan boasts the country’s sec-
ond largest – Chalk River, Ont. Is the biggest – atomic research 
center. And the first cobalt bomb, for cancer treatment, was 
built at the university.34 

 
Following this rather boosterish description of modern-day Saskatchewan, 
LaRocque proceeds with the retelling of his story. In this 1950s account, he 
repeats virtually all of the salient details contained in the previous itera-
tions, but there are cosmetic additions to the story, no doubt suggested by 
the co-author identified in the first page of the article, Robert Tyre, a jour-
nalist and former public relations specialist in the office of CCF Premier 
Tommy Douglas.35 In this version, there are scenic descriptions that may 
or may not be actual memories, but provide colour and immediacy to the 
story. And there are a few additional details that are new and unique, such 
as the following anecdote:

 
When Laurier came to Regina to help launch the new Province, 
I attended the ceremony. The big day was September 4, 1905.

I joined the solid mass of humanity that overflowed from 
Victoria Park. When Sir Wilfrid read the proclamation that 
made Saskatchewan a province, I forced my way through the 
crowd to him.

I reached for his hand and shook it mightily, saying, “The 
LaRocques thank you very much, sir.”36

 
This final (?) telling of the LaRocque family’s experiences in 1885 is the 
most “literary” version of the various accounts that exist. The plot ele-
ments – the introduction of the LaRocque family and the outbreak of the 
Saskatchewan rebellion (exposition); the arrest and jailing of Antoine La-
Rocque as a rebel (rising action); the failed lawsuit and confiscation of the 
family’s land (rising action); the providential meeting with Wilfrid Laurier 
(rising action); and the restitution of the family property by Prime Minis-
ter Wilfrid Laurier (climax) – follow a time-tested pattern for plot develop-
ment. It also provides a satisfactory “denouement” to the various versions 
of the LaRocque story, in that the narrator, Joseph LaRocque, has lived to 
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a ripe old age and had the opportunity to watch his descendants – and his 
province – prosper.

The conclusion of the story also serves to illustrate another, rather puz-
zling aspect of vernacular scholarship – that being the tendency of some 
vernacular writers (particularly minority writers) to internalize the cul-
tural values of the dominant society that has sought to marginalize them.

In the 1955 Liberty article, LaRocque espouses his Canadian patriot-
ism and his pride in his modern homeland while telling the story of how 
the Canadian government illegally incarcerated his father and the terri-
torial government of Saskatchewan confiscated the family landholdings. 
Although this may seem hypocritical or even naive, it is important to re-
member that the dispossession and marginalization that characterized the 
vast majority of Indigenous experiences with Euro-Canadians were also 
variable in their impact. The transition of Western Canada from a frontier 
to a settled society was a racialized and gendered experience, to be sure. 
But it was also an undertaking that was influenced by class. Educated and 
affluent Métis had the social and economic resources to make the lifestyle 
adjustments essential for adapting to the new order of things. As a result, 
certain Métis families were able to achieve a “happy ending” for them-
selves – and craft it into history. 

Conclusion: Vernacular history as “usable past”
Joseph LaRocque was a member of the Saskatchewan Liberal Party, a 
founding member of the Métis Society of Saskatchewan, and an active ver-
nacular historian during his lifetime. For J.Z. Larocque, preserving and 
sharing local history served several functions. First of all, it enabled LaRo-
cque, on behalf of himself and his less literate Métis kin, to preserve the 
remaining oral accounts of local Métis history before they were forgotten. 
His sharing of reminiscences in public talks and local newspaper columns 
allowed him to supplement, and occasionally challenge, the dominant his-
torical and sociopolitical narrative being promulgated in Western Canada 
– a triumphant nationalist narrative that tended to portray Indigenous 
people as a defeated minority doomed to poverty due to their inability to 
adapt to modern society. His initial step was to write alternative accounts 
of the Northwest Rebellion of 1885 that incorporated his own family 
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experiences and those of other Indigenous people, with the intention of 
directly challenging, and correcting, perceived inaccuracies and omissions 
in the “official” historical accounts of the event. His recollections, which 
were an entertaining mix of historical fact and community anecdote, were 
also intended to be didactic in tone, stressing the solid moral and com-
munity values of the Métis people as a means of challenging the anti-Na-
tive biases of some of his non-Native reading audience.37

In addition to his vernacular writing, J.Z. LaRocque set out to estab-
lish a public persona as an educated, knowledgeable individual regarding 
Aboriginal historical and contemporary issues, which enabled him to find 
decent employment and achieve his own political goals within both the 
Métis Society of Saskatchewan and the Saskatchewan Liberal Party. He ac-
complished these goals by cashing in his Métis scrip to further his formal 
education in Winnipeg, using his scrip money to take business training 
and to purchase a Remington typewriter, which he used to good effect for 
the rest of his life.

A third important goal was to preserve the Métis past, through his 
collaboration and friendship with various members of historical societies, 
with museum curators, and with archivists in Saskatchewan and Mani-
toba. He generously shared documents and artifacts with these individuals, 
even when organizations such as the Saskatchewan Museum betrayed his 
trust by not returning items they had borrowed.38 

Vernacular histories are an important, and little utilized, source of 
fresh and original historical information. These accounts, produced by 
non-professional historians, were often discounted by professional schol-
ars in previous decades due to elitism, ethnocentrism (some might say 
racism), and a misplaced aesthetic which equated passion and connected-
ness to the subject matter with historical inaccuracy.

Métis-written histories, like those of other Indigenous peoples, are 
largely unknown and unstudied by scholars. It is time that these materials 
were circulated to a larger audience and incorporated into the broader his-
torical record of the Canadian West.
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